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and that any criticisms were followed up in a positive way. ‘The
Director of Education and three members of Fife County Council visit
the house.”'® There are no records of this type of visit happening in
later vears, presumably as the school became established and its
reputation known and accepted. From February 1952 to January 1973,
seventeen recorded HMI visits occurred, according to the school
records.

Obviously it was imperative that St Ninian’s should run
efficiently as a school as the SED paid sixty-per-cent of the fees, Local
Authorities paying ‘Section 24’ payments towards the balance.
Therefore the curriculum had to be both commensurate with the needs
of the children and approved by the SED. Because most children
referred to St Ninian’s had gaps in their education and experienced
learning dificulties, successful and meaningful relationships had to be
forged with the children to build up their self confidence and
encourage effective learning. Special emphasis was always placed on
remedial work with a therapeutic value, especially in literacy and
numeracy, but small classes were also seen as a means of benefiting
the more able pupils. The structure of the school throughout was
organised by age as three classes, which became four classes after the
raising of the school leaving age in 1972, with each class averaging ten
to twelve pupils. Children were assessed on arrival, and re-assessed
thereafter at regular intervals in order to monitor progress and to
diagnose any specific difficulties.

Science was not taught as a curricular subject. There was no
science laboratory, but groups of boys were encouraged to cultivate the
school garden by growing vegetables, and pet care was encouraged:
‘Bro. Foggearty undertook to guide the boys in the care of animal pets:
3 rabbits, 2 guinea pigs, 3 mice and a budgerigar.’*® Latterly the school
livestock also included a parrot called Tommy, which was in residence
in the fron: vestibule.

In addition to the basic formal subjects taught, technical,
phyvsical, and vocational education played an important and integral
part in the formal curriculum. The senior classes always had special
provision of organised visits to local places of employment: ‘Party of
boys visited St John’s linoleum works in the village.”®® Visits were
arranged annually for tae members of the Armed Forces, and periods

81bid. 6 Februzry 1957.
Wrhid 1% December 1953.
rhid. 4 March 1954,
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of work experience were arranged locally. Visits and excursions which
tied in with classwork and projects were actively encouraged, equating
the classroom theory with the practicalities of the real world. Regular
links with the Careers Service were maintained.

In later years a Home Economics class was set up, but Art and
Craft were always given a high curricular priority, pupils’ work always
being exhibited in public areas of the house. Although hobbies and
interests varied with members of staff who came and went, it is
obvious from the records that Music was always important, with
emphasis on the child performing, either vocally or instrumentally:
‘Christmas Carol Service and nativity play. Bro. Manley had reason to
be proud of the singing which was good. So too were the
instrumentalists. Bro. MacGuire produced a wonderful play and the
boys really surpassed themselves.”?’ The boys on several occasions
sang Mass in Falkland Palace Chapel, especially during boys’
confirmation services. Thus drama and role-play were actively
encouraged: ‘The juniors did a mime of Burns’ famous poem Tam o’
Shanter. Tam and Soutar Johnny wore kilts. Mr Jolliffe read the
poem.’? Music and drama appreciation visits were encouraged: ‘A
couple of weeks ago nine of the lads went to Kirkcaldy to see the
musical ‘Joseph’.’%

Sport, from the beginning of the school right through to the end,
played an integral part in the development of the pupils. The rationale
of the sports curriculum was: tolerance, team spirit, skills, interest and
enjoyment. Organised physical education sessions were compulsory on
a regular basis, and games periods were timetabled each day, with
sports fixtures most weekends. The school had two playing fields
equipped for rugby, football, cricket, hockey, and athletics, and these
team games were taught and played throughout the year. Every week,
each Wednesday afternoon, all the boys were taken to Perth Swimming
Baths, where they were taught to swim and develop swimming skills,
and there was an annual interhouse gala at these baths.** Latterly, in
1982, the swimming venue was changed from Perth to the Leisure
Centre at Glenrothes. Cross-country runs were another regular outdoor
activity, the main route being from the school to the top of the East
Lomond hill and back again, and pupils were encouraged to compete

N

3 /bid, 28 December 1971.

228t Ninian's Review (monthly school newsletter sent to parents and ‘fncnds of the school)
February 1983.

B Ibid. June 1983.

HSchool Records, 15 March 1960.
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against their own times as well as each others.” In winter time sledging
was enjoyed; the sledges were made by the boys in the school
woodwork room. An allocation of time was given to indoor games and
recreational pursuits, usually in the evenings after ‘prep’ or quiet hour.
League fixtures were often run for table tennis, snooker and darts. One
of the later issues of the St Nimian’s Review gives mention of a
‘conkers’ tournament! Sadly the sporting world brought the occasional
casualty: ‘Alex Murray collapsed after a boxing match. Post mortem
enquiry in Cupar. Funeral in Brothers’ plot in Falkland. No blame
attached to anybody.’?

Fife Regional sports facilities were available to the school at the
sports centre in Glenrothes, The school was lucky to have adequate
transport for use of teams; two house cars, a mini-bus, and a forty-
seater coach which was acquired in February 1976 and could take the
whole school on a visit or trip, as, for example, the annual summer day
visit to Butlin’s holiday camp at Ayr.

On the wider aspects of sport and recreation, the school ran
successful skiing trips to Glenshee and the Lecht. These trips were
supervised by school staff, and usually lasted three or four days at a
time. The boys stayed in a hostel, or camped. The senior boys were
taken annually on both a skiing trip, and a summer adventure camp by
the Army Cadet Adventure Training Team. The annual rugby tour to
Stoke and Liverpool was also an event to be anticipated with relish, St
Ninian’s playing the Brothers’ schools of St Edward’s, Cardinal
Godfrey, and St Joseph’s. The boys usually stayed with the parents of
pupils of these schools for three nights—a socialising experience.

Moving from the sports and recreation area of the curriculum,
we find that religious and moral education was catered for by the
Brothers. Usually only Roman Catholic boys were admitted to St
Ninian’s but it is recorded that several non-Roman Catholic pupils
have passed through its portals over the years. The spiritual needs of
the boys were met through a school Mass, celebrated in the school
chapel before lunch every Thursday, by a morning Mass once a week,
and by non-compulsory Mass attendance in Falkland Palace every
Sunday morning.

Each class was timetabled for two periods of Religious
Education per week, and in these periods the Catholic Faith was taught
and practised. Religious songs were learned and sung at the school

31bid. The local police were involved in this incident, a report was submitted to the Procurator
Fiscal at Cupar, and a verdict of Accidental Death was recorded.
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Mass, and were accompanied by boys who had reached a proficiency
in guitar, tin whistle, and percussion instruments. On some occasions,
however, it might have been felt that the pressures of the diurnal grind
detracted from the more spiritual ethereal dimension of religious life:
‘Feast of Our Lady of Perpetual Succour. The Brothers were oblivious
to the fact that it was such a Feast. I had to write it on the blackboards
in class to remind them. I have never seen Religious Instruction in any
of our schools at such a low ebb!’® Assembly brought the whole
school community together first thing on Monday morning when the
headmaster made any announcement relevant to the ensuing week’s
administration. On two occasions the boys went on a pilgrimage to
Lourdes in France.

Technical and craft education played an important part in the
school’s curricular way of life, and every child was encouraged to use
his skills and talents to make something of practical use from either
wood or metal. The philosophy of the technical teacher, Mr Samuel
Jolliffe, who served the school community for virtually its entire life
span, was that the children should produce something worthwhile but
simple, experiencing success before they lost enthusiasm and
concentration: ‘Nearly every weekend most of the boys take home
something useful made in Mr Jolliffe’s woodwork room. We made
bowls on the lathe, and last week I made a chopping board.”?

Over the period from inception to demise, the school seems to
have maintained a consistent number of teaching staff, comprising
three brothers and Mr Jolliffe, who was appointed in September, 1952,
as teacher of Technical Subjects and Physical Education. He fulfilled
this roll well until the early 1970s, when the school leaving age was
raised and his remit was reduced to Technical Subjects and swimming,
A Physical Education teacher was then appointed, as was an additional
teacher of Remedial Education (Special Needs) and General Subjects. .
The community numbers comprised five brothers, but many brothers
came and went, and the provincial usually visited St Ninian’s once a
year to inspect the validity of the service. On two occasions I can
locate in the records, visiting and appointed brothers (provincial
consultors) were detailed by the provincial to make a confidential
report and recommendations: 31 March 1971 and 11 May 1976. Both
reports seemed concerned with the future of the school in terms of how

2"Ib.id. June 1973, written by Rev. Bro. C. McNamara, headmaster. In discussion with Rev. Bro.
Duignan, Birkenhead, this statement was questioned.
1St Ninian's Review, December 1982,
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its facility compared with Local Authority schools, the brother-as-
teacher relationship and brother-as-parent relationship, the
geographical location of St Ninian’s, the lip-service paid to St Ninian’s
compared to other work done in the province—e.g. the Brothers’
independent fee-paying schools, and their work in the inner city areas.
There was also concern that there may be a need for a greater feminine
influence, as suggested by an HMI. This resulted in the appointments
of two females to the teaching staff. Because of the demands on the
brothers (they were on-call virtually 24 hours a day), there was a need
for a regular turn-over of brothers coming to St Ninian’s, the usual
spell of residence being one-to-two years. Some brothers became very
frustrated in such a context, especially those from the independent
sector, due to the children’s lack of academic ability; there was no
specific training for a mission like St Ninian’s. Sometimes these
changes unsettled the boys.

Prior to the setting up of the General Teaching Council for
Scotland in 1965 and of teacher registration in 1968, there seemed to
be much confusion and concern as to the recognition of the brothers’
qualifications to teach in Scotland.?® Two were not recognised as being
eligible to hold the post of headmaster without gaining extra
qualifications, and two of the lay teaching staff had to go to Dundee
University to complete a course of recognition. After 1968 only
teachers recognised and/or registered with the General Teaching
Council could be employed to teach at St Ninian’s. The brothers in
England, of course, did not have this problem. In England secondary
school teachers did not require university graduate status; it was
sufficient to complete a two- or three-year course at a college of
education, and up to 1969, a pass degree at university gave qualified
teacher status.

We can see, then, that both formal and hidden curricula
positively encompassed a fairly extensive and practical bias, with the
school adapting, as far as was possible and relevant, to the on-going
radical changes in prescriptive educational ideologies and philosophies
since the end of the Second World War: egalitarianism, progressivism,
liberalism, vocationalism and centralism. The children were usually of
low IQ, lacking in motivation, with little encouragement from families
to do well and achieve good academic standards.

Considering their backgrounds, it was not surprising that most of
these children were in need of special educational provision. The

] etter from headmaster to Rev. Bro. Provincial, 25 June 1968.
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Brothers therefore saw rudimentary work and practice in the basics as
essential. The Warnock Report (1978) and the Pupils With Learning
Difficulties Report (1978), however, did seem to make some impact
and change in up-dating curricular trends and methodologies within the
school, such as differentiated learning, and appropriate learning
material.

Although St Ninian’s was regarded primarily as a school, it was
a residential or boarding establishment; as well as educational criteria
having to be met and assessed, therefore, certain ‘care’ and welfare
criteria also had to be approved. The living arrangements and quarters
for the boys were akin to a family set-up; therein parental needs were
met figuratively by the brothers, and ‘maternal’ needs were met by the
school matron, a laundress and a seamstress. There was never any
mention of female care assistants, contrary to a recommendation from
visiting social workers that the gender balance should have been
redressed. The prime needs of food, shelter and warmth were well met:
“The house is very comfortably heated, but the two large furnaces have
a very big appetite.”®® Sleeping quarters comprised dormitories; each
accommodated four boys, with wardrobe and dressing table facilities
screened off to give more personal privacy. The boys were encouraged
in habits of personal hygiene, and readily inspected by the brothers and
matron. Regular inspection of the domestic arrangements by
representation of the SED proved satisfactory: ‘Catering examined by
Mrs Reid and Mrs Neilson. All quite satisfied and very
understanding.’®® When television was installed in the house the once-
regular film shows stopped. Latterly a video was installed in the
television lounge and the video was used partly for educational
purposes.

For obvious reasons the boys were not allowed to go to the
village unless accompanied by a member of staff; nevertheless they
had many links with the local community. The school games hall was
used by the locals, and football matches were arranged regularly with
local youths. Some of the seniors were given work experience with
local factories and tradespersons, and during the winter months the
boys cut logs and supplied them to some of the local senior citizens. A

YSchool Records, December 1953.

Wbid. 11 June 1976. As an aside, and on perhaps a more amusing if less fortunate note: ‘School
re-opens for new session, 55 boys on roll. During the month two ladies arrived from Galway to
join the kitchen staff. Their appearance was prepossessing, their performance was less so. Finally
it was discovered that they were ‘alive’ with vermin. Their room had to be fumigated with
sulphur candles after they had quite happily returned to lreland after one week.’ (/bid. 23 August
1954.) Hiring and firing staff at the school was the prerogative of the headmaster and matron.
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Christmas concert for the old people from the village was an annual
event, and in addition to entertainment they were given something to
eat and drink. A Christmas hamper was also provided by the boys (and
their parents) for the village’s elderly.

From the early years to the late 1960s the boys always looked
forward to the potato harvesting. This lasted for three to four weeks
and, of course, the boys were paid for their efforts: ‘Potato harvest
goes on for three weeks. Boys are paid 1/3 per hour for their work.’'
Boys’ payment was negotiated by the brothers with the farmer. A
proportion of the payment was given to the boys, the rest to the
Brothers. The boys’ rates of pay were slightly lower than the average at
that time. They worked during the ‘tattie holiday’ period, and did not
miss school as such. ‘

National social events were always part of the school calendar,
and the boys were encouraged to take part: ‘The Coronation of Queen
Elizabeth was celebrated at Falkland by a great bonfire on the summit
of the East Lomond. The boys helped draw up the wood for it. A feast
was laid on for the boys and each received a gift to commemorate this
occasion.”® Other topical events were the annual Burns’ Supper, 1981
and 1982, and a successful St Andrew’s Night, 1981.

Several children were involved in the later years in producing
the school newsletter, which became the St Ninian’s Review, a monthly
magazine of news and entertainment. Copies of the magazine were sent
to all parents and friends of the school.

Home leave raises the question of whether or not it caused upset
and disruption. Initially leave was not as frequent, as many of the boys
were orphaned and had nowhere to go, but gradually weekend leave
‘became more part of the norm, perhaps with overtones of the emerging
social work policy of re-integration. At certain times leave had to be
earned, and those who offended were sometimes deprived of the
privilege. There were certain weekends when the whole school stayed,
for example the first weekend after a recess. During the latter part of
the 1970s, social work policy was directed less to residential schooling
than to the alternative value of home integration and fostering; as a
result, social workers encouraged links with the home situation to be as
strong and frequent as possible.

As we would expect, on many occasions some pupils did not
return from their weekend leave, and if this happened, unless for a

MIbid. October 1959,
2Ibid. 2 June 1953.
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good reason, further immediate weekend leaves were forfeited when
the child returned to school. Absconding happened fairly regularly, but
interestingly the school’s records indicate that during the last decade of
the school’s three decades, this problem tapered off almost to zero. As
already suggested, many earlier absconders- might well have had
nowhere to run to, yet latterly those who did rarely made the effort—an
interesting psychological phenomenon perhaps? There could be many
other reasons; for example it could be construed that the children were
happy and well adjusted in a stable environment, where most of their
needs were being met. The fact that latterly home leave was very
regular reinforced the futility of absconding. Commonly, absconding
happened with new arrivals, but some cases seemed inexplicable, and a
child rarely absconded alone. There may be a correlation between the
change in the type of pupil entering St Ninian’s in the late 1970s, the
number of absconders, and the changes in policy and legislation
previously mentioned. We must also consider that latterly children
chose to go there, whilst initially that was not the case. Children often
absconded because they felt unjustifiably punished, or because they
were being bullied or threatened by their peers. Often while on the run
they engaged themselves in criminal and nefarious activities: ‘Six boys
entered the baker’s premises in Falkland and stole cakes. Four of these
ran away next morning. These four remanded in custody on charges of
breaking and entering.’**

The medical welfare of the boys and brothers was in the hands of
the local medical practice in Falkland. From December, 1964, the local
doctor made weekly visits to the school: ‘Dr White agrees to see boys
in house weekly.”®*

Discipline and punishment is always a contentious issue, but it is
of interest to note that various methods of punishment were used by the
brothers in the execution of their duties. The rationale for corporal
punishment at St Ninian’s was the same as for all the Brcthers’
schools: it was left to professional judgement, and not more than two
strokes of the tawse was normally sanctioned. If more were deemed
necessary, then the headmaster had to be present.® A frequent
punishment, especially latterly, was that of deprivation, for example

3bid.. 1 September 1953.

*Ibid. 3 December 1964

BChristian Brothers, 4 Manual of School Government (Dublin 1945), chapter on corporal
punishment. A strict regime was laid down: punishment was not to be given for failure at

classwork, nor during the first and last hour of the school day. A leather strap only was to be
used.
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the cancelling of weekend leave, early bed, no tuck, and standing
solitary in the front hall. For more serious misdemeanours, corporal
punishment was meted out: ‘McCusker caught smoking in wood after
dinner—received slaps with leather and [made] to stand in hall for
week and to bed early each night after supper.’® 1 found other
references tc corporal punishment: ‘He received four of the belt on the
hands, lost a week’s tuck, and forfeited one weekend.”® There was also
a reference to ‘stripes’, and perhaps a little more sinister: ‘Gllroy was
punished by beating.’®®

Although life at St Ninian’s was varied and eventful, the staff
obviously worked hard for the boys, and with much reward; the
archivist told me, ‘when it was good it was good, when it was bad it
was bloody awful!” Other comments include: ‘All is calm and rosy.’%
‘Oh, what a hell this place can be at times!’*® The resilience of
institutionalised youth, as well as possibly the stresses of a single-sex
school, can readily result in behaviour ranging from one extreme to the
other.

The queszion of the future of St Ninian’s cropped up from time
to time as numbers fell to under thirty. The economic viability_of the
school was qusstioned—at the very time that social work policy
changed. Strathclyde Region threatened to curtail referrals. Closure,
however, was not considered imminent even when it was formally
announced in 1979: negotiations were then afoot for the erection of a
playbarn.*" So why did St Ninian’s close its doors on 14 July, 1983,
when it was apparently a going concern with a full pupil and staff
complement and a waiting list of about forty prospective pupils? And
for how long had this move been contemplated?

The provincialate is the governing body of the Christian
Brothers and it is their task to oversee in its entirety the jobs of work
being don€ by the brothers, and to apportion manpower to the
necessary areas and situations of need. In 1981-2 the Brothers’
commitments ley in three comprehensive schools, five independent
schools, houses of formation, an increasing commitment to an inner-
city schoaol in Liverpool, and two mission schools in Liberia, one of the
poorest countries in Africa. In 1980-1 the Brothers withdrew their

¥%School Records, 24 January 1971.

Ybid. 10 June 1972.

Wibid, 23 May 1959.

¥Ibid. 9 Octcber 1972,

W1bid. 15 Dctober 1972,

¥Letter from the SED to Rev. Bro. Ryan, 28 November 1979,
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services from Prior Park College, Bath (boys’ public school), Cricklade
Preparatory School, and St Brendan’s College, Bristol. Over the few
years prior to that the Brothers withdrew from their mission in
Gibraltar, St Joseph’s College, Blackpool, John Rigby School, Orrell,
Plessington School, Wirral, and sold off their Juniorate, St Joseph’s
College, Ledsham. There was a reluctance to withdraw from Liberia as
there would be no alternative provision, governmental or otherwise.

These closures were primarily due to a decrease in available
manpower: the total number of brothers under sixty years of age at that
time was forty-three. Why was Scotland next on the list? ‘After much
agonising discussion, it was decided unanimously to recommend
withdrawal from our school/home for boys at Falkland.”** The reasons
given were: in the event of closure of St Ninian’s, there would be more
than enough room in other Catholic residential schools for the boys at
St Ninian’s; the declared future policy of the Authorities sending boys
to Falkland was towards fostering out. The Authorities refused to
commit themselves to further use of the Falkland facility; the staffing
of Falkland always presented a difficult problem for the provincialate.
Brothers did not have specific training for that kind of work, and
teacher recognition in Scotland was not easy to get without further
training. Often it was difficult to find brothers of the right calibre
willing to go to Falkland. The community was isolated and lonely,
therefore a minimum of five brothers, including three young and active
ones, would need to be there; the manpower situation did not extend to
cover all challenges, and it was felt that the inner-city priority took the
edge.

In 1981 the Scottish Local Authorities decided to reduce the
amount of List D provision, and notices of closure were served on St
Ninian’s, Gartmore, near Aberfoyle (run by the Salesians), and on John
Bosco’s, Aberdour, Fife (also run by the Salesians). After strong
objections and representation, Aberdour was reprieved, but St Ninian’s
was closed. The property of St Ninian’s, Gartmore, belonged to the
archdiocese of Glasgow, and the archbishop, Thomas Winning, offered
it to the Christian Brothers as a better alternative to Falkland House,
the facilities being more designed to meet the needs of such an
establishment.** The Brothers at that point were quite happy to accept
the offer, but only if they were successful in securing another Order to
take over within a couple of years, as they themselves, as already

“Community Letter, 18 June 1982, 4.
*Letter from Archbishop Winning to provincial, Rev. Bro. T. Coffey, 16 February 1982,
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mentioned, planned to withdraw altogether from Scotland. This offer
was made to the Presentation Brothers Teaching Order—at that time
one of their Home Office schools in London closed down, and they had
some anxious brothers ready and willing to continue that kind of work.
The superior of the Presentation Brothers was interested and happy to
accept the offer, but alas his provincialate were not, so the move did
not come to fruition.** The Brothers informed Archbishop Winning at
that point that if he could find somebody willing to take over, they
would still help with the move, but no one came forward.

On 20 September 1982, the community and staff of St Ninian’s
were informed that the school would be closing definitely in July,
1983, and of the reasons why. It was agreed by the staff that an appeal
against the closure should be made, and they urged themselves to write
emotively to the provincialate, and anyone else who might be
influential enough to forestall the closure, even the Pope himself. The
whole exercise was futile: the provincialate stressed that their decision
was final.

Obviously the closure had an adverse and traumatic effect on
everyone—the headmaster was especially embittered—and much had
to be done about informing Local Authorities and the SED of their
intentions. Alternative strategies had to be found for the boys, who
were gradually moved out as suitable placements became available,
and also for the staff. In the remaining time left before the closure, life
for the boys was made as pleasant as possible, with a memorable four-
day trip to Abernethy Outdoor Centre, and several other arrangements.
‘A Mass of thanksgiving was celebrated in the school Chapel on 6
July, 1983.7%° Teachers left on 7 July, and other employees on 14 July.

In conclusion, it can be seen that social work policy had a
greater impact and influence on the running of St Ninian’s than did the
various changes in educational policy. But whatever the current
ideology, St Ninian’s stood the test of time, even through the tougher
periods of uncertainty. The irony was that, of the schools the Brothers
ran, St Ninian’s was one of the few doing the job the founder
envisaged: education of the poor and underprivileged.

What became of the 807 boys who came to and left St Ninian’s
home/school over the thirty-three years of its history, and what
influence had St Ninian’s in shaping their lives? In the earlier years

Hl etter to Rev. Bro. T, Coffey from Bro Scanlon, provincial of the Presentation Brothers, 7 July
1982,
#School Records, July 1983,
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many were directed towards the forces, but apart from that no
information is available on former pupils. Unfortunately the Brothers
do not seem to have provided an after-care or follow-up provision or
service as many schools resembling St Ninian’s do. Such provision
perhaps would have given the system some kind of assessment,
appraisal or feedback, or at its simplest, a measure of the success of the
work done at grass roots. Perhaps lack of manpower prevented this
important dimension of the Brothers’ work being furthered. In 1995 St
Ninian’s re-opened, under private management. Falkland House
School, as it is now designated, is essentially a boarding school
providing a residential education for children with emotional,
behavioural and learning difficulties. This, in my estimation, is
undoubtedly a continuation of the work pioneered in Falkland thirty-
five years ago by the Congregation of Christian Brothers.

The Christian Brothers opened their only other school in Scotland,
Scotus Academy, on 16 September 1953, as a favour to the late
Archbishop McDonald.* On the morning of 12 September 1953, a first
and dialogue Mass was said by Archbishop Gray in the community
oratory on an altar gifted by Bro. Nugent, superior of St Ninian’s,
Falkland. ‘His Grace blessed the house, and the parents of the pupils-
to-be, with their boys, arrived on an informal visit to see over the new
school now fully fitted out.’¥ Scotus Academy, named after the
famous Scottish scholar of the middle ages—Duns Scotus—opened as
a primary and first year secondary school; pupils would be educated
right up to university entrance standard.

The rector, or headmaster, of Scotus was Rev. Bro. J. S. Russell,
who held the post until 19 February 1959. He was succeeded by Rev.
Bro. Ennis until September 1962 when Rev. Bro. Baylor took over.
Rev. Bro. Livingstone was in post as rector when the school finally
closed. .

On 2 May 1950, word was sent to the provincialate of the
Brothers that a large house and property with twenty two acres of land,
convenient for the city of Edinburgh, was up for sale at a reasonable
price. It was at one time the home of Sir Robert Boothby, MP.
‘Sanction for the purchase of the property for £15,000 was obtained
from the General Council, and the bargain was signed, sealed and

*CBER (1954) 112.
“"Edinburgh Evening News, 17 September 1953, CBER (1954) 112,
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delivered.’*® Beechwood mansion-house was situated on the south
slope of Corstorphine Hill, off Corstorphine Road, in a plantation of
beech trees, overlooking Carricknowe Golf Course, and embracing the
Pentland Hills. Beechwood was built in 1780 by Francis Scott, second
son of the Laird of Harden, and is described by the parish minister, ca
1795, as ‘remarkable for that pleasing and elegant neatness with which
it has been embellished by its present owner’, Col. Leslie, who bought
the property in 1786 and sold it in 1797 to Sir David Dundas.

In Edinburgh in the mid-twentieth century three or four orders of
nuns catered for the Catholic education of girls with large well-run
schools—Sacred Heart Sisters at Craiglockhart, Ursulines at St
Margaret’s, and the Mercy Nuns at St Catherine’s. A number of Junior
and Senior Secondary schools, under the Edinburgh Corporation
Education Committee, supplied the needs of boys up to eleven or
twelve, such as St Anthony’s and St Cuthbert’s, but there was no
Catholic secondary provision except for Holy Cross Academy, which
was co-educational and had a roll of over 1,000. Holy Cross had an
accommodation problem. Many of its buildings were out of date, and
classes were too large in number. This was why the Christian Brothers
were invited to Edinburgh—to supply a need: ‘For many years a large
selection of the Catholic population, especially the professional
classes, sighed for a Brothers’ school. They longed for the wholesome
atmosphere of the Religious school with its usual accompaniments of
Religion and culture.’® Many Catholic parents obtained permission
from the archbishop to send their boys to a ‘select’ non-Catholic school
in Edinburgh until such time as a Catholic equivalent should be
established. :

Looking at the demography and topography of Scotland one
might justifiably ask, why did the Christian Brothers’ schools in
Scotland not go to Glasgow and the west instead of Edinburgh and the
east? The Christian Brothers came to Scotland and the Edinburgh
diocese specifically at the request of Archbishop Gordon Joseph Gray,
and it was felt by him that there was a definite and specific need in
Edinburgh for a good Catholic independent school, to balance a similar
provision offered by Fettes, Heriot’s, Stewart’s, and Melville’s. In
Glasgow there was not the same need, as the Jesuits and Marists were
already there along with several convents offering adequate provision.
On coming to Edinburgh the Brothers had hoped to qualify for ‘Direct

WCBER (1954) 112.
*¥School Records (1953) 10.
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Grant’ status but did not due to falling rolls and lack of facilities within
the school—for example the absence of room for expansion. There was
little tradition in Scotland of fee-paying in education, except in’
Edinburgh, where fees were substantially lower than in England; the
Brothers therefore found it difficult to increase the fees in case the
numbers fell. (In the case of St Ninian’s in Falkland, it will be recalled
that the laird gave the Christian Brothers a ninety-nine year lease of
Falkland House free of charge, so there was no expense in either
buying or renting suitable accommodation.)®

In 1948 Falkland House was acquired, and that eclipsed the
prospect of a school for Edinburgh until 2 May, 1950, when attention
was brought to Beechwood Estate. It was thought that the local diocese
might purchase the property, but although enthusiasm for this was
shown the Brothers were left to foot the bill. On 28 May, 1950, the
school was voted favourable by the provincial council. On 21
September, 1951, Archbishop Gray was consecrated, and in March he
wrote to the Brothers asking them when the new school was likely to
open. Two Consultors came to Edinburgh to discuss the issue. The
archbishop advocated September 1952 as an opening date, and
although four brothers had been appointed tentatively, the opening was
delayed. In January 1953 a survey of the house was made, and the
school and its aims were advertiséd through the city churches and
Catholic papers. ‘Names began to appear on the application list,
enquiries poured in and interested parents called.”>' The list grew, and
by Easter 1953 over sixty names were entered.

Seventy-four boys were in attendance on the first day and
constituted a primary department with a first-year secondary class. The
boys were mostly from Edinburgh, but some travelled daily from
Glasgow, Fauldhouse, Broxburn, Bathgate, Bo’ness, Longniddry, and
Port Edgar. The object was for the school to develop into a full-scale
primary and secondary School. With two or three vacancies, the school
opened with a waiting list of thirty applications from parents of
children as young as three years old. Boys were admitted from the age
of seven years, and fees were set at £12.00 per term. The school
provided text books, pupils purchasing their own stationery.

Numbers grew over the years to reach a peak of 347 in 1961, but
were restricted due to the lack of building expansion to accommodate
new pupils. Expansion of buildings was slow due to lack of immediate

See p. 14, above.
S'CBER (1954) 112,



32 _ Frank A. Zwolinski

funds, and plans to expand from the house to another school building
never came to fruition. The Medway extension, to which there was
initial opposition by planning personnel, was ready on 10 January
1956. It housed two large classrooms, but the science room was not
ready for use until 14 April of that same year. A garage and stables
block was eventually converted into a sports pavilion, paths were
tarred at a cost of £352 (October 1957) and sports fields dug, and an
all-weather playground was to cost £998, but further development was
marred by financial pressure. Interestingly, ‘the grounds hosted a large
bomb crater from a bomb dropped during the Second World War when
planes were attacking the railway line between Edinburgh and Glasgow
and the Forth Bridge.’®? This was the object of great attention by the
pupils, but in view of the steepness of the hole, it was out of bounds to
all. A new water pipe system was installed in February 1955, which
was made necessary after frequent periods in which taps ran dry.

The financial state of Scotus was always a worry.and a problem.
Income was basically drawn from fees. ‘Financial state of house is
causing concern’,% it was said: therefore fees were raised to £20, with
reductions of twenty-five and fifty per-cent respectively for second and
third brochers from the same family. Money-raising events were
common, and a committee was formed on 29 February, 1957. As a
result, regular fetes were the norm; the first one, on 18 May, 1957,
raised over £3,000. The school, being registered as a charity, was
exempt from taxation. A Scotus Academy Association was set up in
June 1959, and within a year its membership stood at 195.
Consequently a covenant was proposed, and each parent was asked to
pledge £15 per year to help augment funds. The Brothers enjoyed the
generosity of the archbishop, and have him to thank for many ad hoc
financial gifts to the school: ‘A gift of £500 received from His Grace
the Archbishop.’®

Brether Dignan, who taught at Scotus from its inception until
1964, informed me that no application for funding was ever lodged
with the SED. Enquiries were made regarding the possibility, and Bro.
Dignan was reminded by an SED official, Mr Kidd, that there was
quite a number of private/independent schools in the queue for such
funding. It was pointed out to Mr Kidd that Scotus Academy was the
only such establishment catering for Roman Catholic parents who

52 etter to author from L. Wilson, CA (former pupil), Edinburgh, 18 March 1993,
3School Records, 6 December 1956.
Jbid. 11 December 1953.
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specifically wanted an independent school for their children, He agreed
that this might well have merited priority for consideration. These
points were passed on to the school Governors. This meeting with Bro.
Dignan took place in the summer of 1959. Subsequently the issue was
passed on to provincial headquarters. Scotus was officially
‘recognised’, but nothing emerged in the area of funding.

There was much support for Scotus from the Catholic Church,
although there was no ‘official’ financial support, which is
understandable given the circumstances of the time. For the diocese to
fund an independent school officially might well have given rise to
difficulties in view of the fact that Catholics had a Senior Secondary
school, and also Junior Secondary and Primary schools.

General curricular subjects were taught in the primary sector;
formal lessons of English, Arithmetic, History and Geography, with
improvements in writing skills. Teaching strategies were formal and
didactic, with little emphasis on group work and activity learning as
recommended in the Primary Memorandum.*® In the secondary sector
subjects embraced English Language and Literature, History,
Geography, French, Latin, Maths, Science, Art, Music and Religious
Education. Assessment was by term examinations and presentation for
the Scottish Leaving Certificate in the fourth and fifth years. It must be
noted that a pass was awarded only on successful completion and
achievement in all subjects taken. The first sitting for the Scottish
Leaving Certificate was in March 1958, resulting in seventeen out of
nineteen pupils being awarded a certificate. The average number of
passes per pupil was 4.5 subjects, and the bias between Arts and
Sciences subjects was slightly towards the Arts area of the curriculum.
Entrance examinations were also taken by incoming pupils. By
September 1958 the school sported a staff of nine brothers and five
secular masters, not to mention the ancillary staff of a cook and two
maids. Much of the ground work on the estate was done by the brothers
themselves, and there is record of them initially borrowing an Allen
grass cutter from the Zoo next door to improve the state of the grass
around the school.

In 1962 Scotus followed the change from the Scottish Leaving
Certificate to the new Ordinary and Higher grade examination system.

$3SED, Primary Education in Scotland (HMSO, Edinburgh 1965). The rationale for the above
document, cited as the Primary Memorandum, is largely based on Piaget’s theory of child
development, addressing the issues of how the child learns, and, the moral considerations of
Rousseau and Dewey; the interests of the child, his innocence and his humanity. This document
outlines the philosophy of child centered education.
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At the changeover, the school arranged a meeting with parents on 14
June, 1961, to discuss the logic and rationale of the new system. From
the records it would appear that examination results were always
favourable and pleasing and the results were published every year. Her
Majesty’s Inspectors visited the school regularly: ‘Inspectors were
courteous and helpful, they do like to be consulted.’®® Their visits
seemed to prove satisfactory. In 1965 the brothers at Scotus faced the
same problem as their counterparts at House of Falkland, with regard
to registration with the General Teaching Council for Scotland. Some
of them, however, took extra courses at Edinburgh University, either to
obtain a degree or to have their current degrees nostrified, and
complete their teacher training course at Moray House College of
Education, in Edinburgh.

The expertise of the brothers could not cover all aspects of the
curriculum, and, as at Falkland, it was necessary to recruit laity to
teach some subjects: for example, a cricket match ‘was organised by
one of the few lay teachers we had in the early days, Richard Demarco,
who is now more famous in the Art world than in teaching.”¥” Much
value was placed on the role of laity in teaching; the arrival of an
additional teacher from Glasgow, Mr McCafferty, on 10 September
1957, helped lighten the burden, and there was much disappointment at
the thought of Mr Curran, the Science Master, possibly leaving to take
up a post in industry. There was a need, from time to time, to resort to
calling on the services of supply teachers, for example to cover Bro.
Dignan’s hospitalisation in 1955,

The religious and moral training of the boys was a characteristic
feature of the education imparted at Scotus. A sound course of
instruction was given to all pupils in Christian Doctrine, Scripture, and
Church History, in addition to which senior pupils took courses in
Apologetics, Liturgy, and Social Sciences. Every effort was made to
foster piety and rectitude of character and conduct. An examination by
the diocese was held on Christian Doctrine. Masses were held regularly
in and out of school. There were visits to the Church of John the
Baptist in Corstorphine, and the annual expeditions to Lourdes were a
main feature in the school diary. Frequent visits to Carfin Grotto, and
religious exhibitions in the Kelvin Hall, Glasgow, were part of the on-
going supplement to the Religious Education programme.®® First

*%School Records, 27 September 1956. Unfortunately no records of HMI visits are available in
either the Christian Brothers” archives or the Scottish Record Office, Edinburgh.

$’School Records, 6 December 1956.

*1bid.
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communicants were usually received in the school Oratory. The May
procession died a death, however, within the first two years of the
school opening.

In November 1958, Dr Laidlaw of Bo’ness donated a piano to
the school. The school’s first operatic production, The Pirates of
Penzance, was in Lauriston Hall on 29 June 1961, and the success of
this was followed by The Mikado in 1962, which was followed in time
by a further production, The Land of Green Ginger. The music master
at that time was Arthur Oldham, who went on to be conductor of the
Cathedral Choir in Edinburgh, and then the Paris Opera. The
Edinburgh String Quartet coached the school orchestra of forty boys,
and choirs were trained by the music master.

On the sports scene, rugby was the main forte. Scotus had
regular contact with other schools of the Brothers. Games and Physical
Education were compulsory for all pupils, unless medically excused,
and were seen as an important part of the curriculum. The rationale for
games and sports was the same as for St Ninian’s.

Extra-curricular activities were encouraged, as was competition
at a national level. School activities included: fencing, curling, rugby,
squash, hockey, chess, debating. Weekend fixtures were arranged for
home and away matches in the field of sports as well as fencing. In
1962, playing fields and the sports pavilion were completed at a cost of
under £8,000: ‘A fully equipped pavilion has been completed, two
changing rooms, two sets of showers, and a large hall for general
purposes.’®® The large hall was also used for country dancing classes,
Association functions and socials such as whist drives and coffee
evenings. The ground also hosted a grass tennis court, and this was also
used for the garden fetes in the early days of the school. Interestingly,
the first garden fete was almost a wash-out because of torrential rain;
however, someone in his wisdom had insured against rainfall, and the
school obtained a substantial sum of money.

The provincial and visiting brothers called regularly at the
school, praising the high standards of diligence and behaviour.
Eventually many former pupils returned to help with the Scotus
Association, and two visits from Lord Boothby, at one time owner of
the house, proved encouraging. Eamon Andrews, a former pupil of the
Christian Brothers, visited Scotus on 10 April 1958 and was impressed
by the work being done by the brothers. The first pupil to be registered
at Scotus, Lindsay Wilson, CA, to whom I have spoken, has recently

*CBER (1964) 257.
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successfully organised a Scotus Former Pupils’ Reunion, which he
hopes to continue at regular intervals.®® At the first meeting there were
over ninety Former Pupils.

From the school log books and records I could locate no
reference to methods of punishment. My only sources of verification
were from interviews with former pupils. The brothers confirmed that
the ethos for order and discipline was strict, but not necessarily
repressive, with corporal punishment being used as seldom as possible,
and only for serious breaches of discipline and school rules. It was felt
that in most cases the threat of physical punishment was enough to
deter. The emphasis was on good habits and obedience. The former
pupils I interviewed confirmed that the brothers operated an extremely
strict regime: ‘Punishment normally consisted of using a leather belt on
the hands, and this belt consisted of a one inch thick piece of leather
about one foot in length and three inches in width, which was usually
delivered by the teacher jumping at the same time he was about to
swing the belt down. It was not unknown for others to be hit with a
cricket stump across the back of the legs, or a flying blackboard
duster.”®' We can see that there is an obvious contrast in the
perspectives of brothers’ and pupils’ perceptions on corporal
punishment. These sanctions, however, were an acceptable norm in
relation to the public school sector at that time.

Sanctions were applied strictly. All pupils had to wear school
uniform in the school and to all school functions. Kilts were also
permissible. Scarves and pullovers were also to be bought from the
official school outfitter, and caps were not obligatory for boys in the
fifth and sixth forms. Bus drivers, conductors, and people using the
buses were informed regularly that if the pupils were seen without caps
they were to be reported to the school.®? Pupils were reminded
constantly that they were ambassadors of the school, and were
expected to behave at all times in a respectful and courteous fashion.

School fees were demanded in advance, and payment was due
within twenty-eight days from the beginning of the term concerned. A
full term’s notice in writing was required before the intended
withdrawal of a boy, and failure to give this notice resulted in parents
being liable for payment of fees for the ensuing term.

%1 etter from L. Wilson, CA (former pupil), to Rev. Bro. L. Anthony, Birkenhead, 24 November
1991.

) etter to author from L. Wilson, CA (former pupil), Edinburgh, 18 March 1993.
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Whether or not parents allowed their children to smoke, smoking
was forbidden at all times in the school, on the school premises, or
whilst a boy was wearing school uniform. Parents were advised by the
school that they should not encourage boys to secure part-time
employment outwith school hours as this would invariably encroach on
times which should be spent studying school work.

We must now turn to the closure of the school in July 1978 after
serving the local community for twenty-five years. Scotus Academy
was the only independent school for Catholic boys in the east of
Scotland. The year prior to the closure the junior department wound
up, but in consolation, the primary department of St Margaret’s
Convent School, Edinburgh, opened its doors to boys. A dinner dance
was given by the Brothers and Parents’ Association to mark the final
closure.®® What, then, was the reason for the closure? The
provincialate, with Bro. Coffey as superior, indicated that the decision
to close had not been an easy one to take, but gave as reasons the
continuance of financial difficulties, inadequate buildings, a fall in the
birth rate, secondary school reorganisation, and a shortage of
manpower. This last reason clearly foreshadowed the fate of St
Ninian’s, Falkland.

If we look more closely at the last-named reason, we might well,
at that time, have predicted the closure of St Ninian’s sooner.
Interestingly, only one former pupil of Scotus became a Christian
Brother, but six became priests.

An article, ‘Reflections on Scotus Academy’, by Jack Reagan (a
former pupil) in the 1977 issue of The Scotian, the annual school
magazine, provoked a concerned and almost hostile reaction from the
local clergy.®* Among the reasons for the closure Reagan stated that
‘...the second, and perhaps more subtle, was the opposition to the
whole idea of Scotus, and what Scotus represented, from a proportion
of the clergy and Catholics in Edinburgh.’®® It was reckoned that
closure stemmed from the fact that Scotus was a fee-paying school,
and the Brothers were an Irish Order. Wilson’s hypothesis® postulated
that the hierarchy of the diocese of St Andrews and Edinburgh were
not exactly enthusiastic about having a private school in Edinburgh,
and did not understand the politics of private school education in the

S3Scottish Catholic Observer, 14 July 1978.

“Letter from Patrick Grady, Vicar-General, Edinburgh, to Rev. Bro. Denis O’Brien, 27 July
1977.

53The Scotian (1977) 4.

661 etter to author from L. Wilson, CA (former pupil), Edinburgh, 18 March 1993,
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capital. He argued that the hierarchy had a socialist base and believed
that private education was not to be encouraged when they had to make
the most of the Local Authority education being offered. The
hierarchy, he claimed, invariably bent over backwards to comply with
socialist governments in establishing a system of comprehensive
education, and this conflicted with the policies and capabilities of the
Brothers and their perceived needs in their particular schools.

Reagan laudably and passionately reflected on the merit and
worth of the school by laying claim to the success of former pupils and
the numerous sports achievements gained. Importantly, though, his
later reflections sum up what might have been the saving grace of
Scotus Academy: ‘but perhaps had things been different from the
beginning, then the problem might have been overcome. It had to be
remembered, that when we opened, the fees were only £12 per term,
and in retrospect it is safe to say that such a scale of fees was quite
unrealistic.’®’

Prior to the closure the school tried to sell off part of its ground
for office development but was refused permission by the Secretary of
State for Scotland on the grounds that the main Corstorphine Road
could not cope with the traffic. This could have saved the. school,
perhaps, as a new building was to be constructed from the proceeds.
The school is now part of the BUPA Murrayfield Private Hospital—no
problem seems to have been encountered by the hospital regarding
traffic.

Perhaps there should have been more enthusiasm from the
Brothers, and from the Catholic Church, to keep the school open. The
diocese was very keen to have the Brothers remain, and to move to
larger premises; it was thought that the Brothers might take over Holy
Cross secondary school, developing the independent sector. But there
were political reasons: the diocese liked to be in charge, but direct
control was impossible because of the independence of the Brothers.
The provincial authorities, according to Bro. Egan, were inclined to
replace headmasters who clashed with diocesan authorities with
brothers who were more diplomatic and amenable, for example, Bro. S.
Lovelady in Bristol, and Bro. D. Taylor in Crosby, who were more
sympathetic to diocesan ideological thinking, and toed the proverbial
party line. Above all else, the Brothers decided that the school was to
close regardless, and Bro. Ambrose was sent to Scotus with that aim in

“The Scotian (1977) 6.
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mind, having been directed to do so by the provincialate.®® There was
the need for a fairly substantial and expensive building programme.
The Brothers having only recently completed extensive building
programmes elsewhere did not feel that they could add further to their
debts for quite some years.®®

As with Falkland, the Brothers felt the need for ‘rationalisation’
in view of a decline in manpower resources; there was also a growing
interest of the Brothers in West Africa, and their mission in Liberia,
where many felt the need was greater. These factors were very potent
in determining withdrawal from Scotus. ‘After leaving Scotus in 1964,
I took every opportunity open to me to plead for its development, but
alas!—to no avail. By the time its future came to the point of decision,
I felt the opportunity had been lost some years earlier when greater
vision and courage might have achieved greater progress there.’”®

What made the Christian Brothers’ schools distinctive in terms of
Catholic education in general? The Christian Brothers offered a
religious dimension that permeated the entire curriculum, and that was
allied to a strong devotion to the principles and practice of Roman
Catholicism. Christian Brothers’ schools gave a strong emphasis on
care and the uniqueness of the individual, and demonstrated a
particular concern for the poor. These qualities were in evidence in the
Christian Brothers’ work in Scotland.

The two schools fulfilled different needs, thus showing the
adaptability and potentially wide application of their approach to
education. They were there by invitiation, to absorb Catholic pupils
going to non-catholic schools (in the case of Scotus Academy), and to
meet the needs of children suffering various kinds of deprivation (in
the case of St Ninian’s, Falkland). Many parents preferred their
children to be taught by a religious order.

Both schools suffered from the same critical decline in
manpower. The Brothers were faced with a decline in religious
vocation, with many services closing down due to a lack of manpower.
Ideally the Brothers aimed to staff their schools with as many from
their own ranks as possible. There has been a steady decrease in
brothers involved in teaching in their schools; for example in 1948 in
St Edward’s College, Liverpool, there were eighteen brothers on the

%Rev. Bro. J. Sreenan, St Edward’s College, Liverpool, 16 July 1994,
%Rev. Bro. Dignan, St Anselm’s College, Birkenhead, 29 October 1994,
"1bid,
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teaching staff; today there are none. Although both Scottish schools
suffered manpower shortages each was also hit by particular
problems—Falkland by the change in Social Work policy, and Scotus
Academy by its ongoing financial difficulties.

Although the Brothers enjoyed an independence from diocesan
control, this independence meant that they were suited to responding to
initiatives by a philanthropist and an archbishop—especially when this
involved meeting an out-of-the-ordinary educational need (such as the
peculiar situation in Edinburgh which was the only part of Scotland
where an independent Catholic School would have been in demand, or
the obvious role which Falkland played). Notwithstanding this
independence, they had, of necessity, to co-operate with Diocesan
Working Parties as part of the changing patterns of development in
Catholic education over the recent decades. However, often there was
friction between what the Brothers saw best for Catholic education in a
well-established traditional school and what the diocese saw as
beneficial, especially with regard to fee-paying and comprehensive
schooling. The Brothers often looked at certain other needs in
education such as parental choice for single-sex schools, and non-
comprehensive type education. A certain antipathy within the Church
to fee-paying education cannot be ignored, which may have played a
part in the demise of Scotus Academy. In the case of Scotus it could be
argued that Edmund Rice’s original challenge to meet the needs of the
poor and underprivileged had failed; it could be argued, however, that
Scotus merely adapted to meet the changing needs of the Catholic
population. We must not forget that the independent sector of
education is fuelling the Brothers’ mission to the Third - World
countries.

Perhaps this generation is missing out on what was an essential
part in the educational development of the Catholic community.”" It
could be argued that the Brothers came educationally and
‘theologically equipped and motivated in a faith-sharing sense at a
level that very few religious education specialists can reach.’’?
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